SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC09-1277

L.C. CASE NO: 4D-07-3383

MARC E. BOSEM, M.D., MARC E. BOSEM, M.D., P.A. d/b/a CORRECT VISION LASER INSTITUTE, a Florida corporation,

Petitioners,

v.

MUSA HOLDINGS, INC. d/b/a EYEGLASS WORLD, a Florida corporation, THE LASER VISION INSTITUTE, L.L.C., and MARCO MUSA, individually,

Responde	ents.	
		/

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

Joel S. Perwin, P.A. 169 E. Flagler Street Alfred I. Dupont Bldg., Suite 1422 Miami, FL 33131 Tel: (305) 779-6090

Fax: (305) 779-6095

By: Joel S. Perwin

Fla. Bar No.: 316814

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Course of Proceedings. This is an action for trade-name Α. infringement and invasion of privacy. The Appeal of Plaintiffs Marc E. Bosem, M.D. and his P.A. (hereinafter, collectively, "Dr. Bosem") challenged the significant limitations on the damages awarded to Dr. Bosem by the trial court, sitting as factfinder, after Dr. Bosem had secured a Summary Judgment on the issues of liability. A predecessor judge had found on Summary Judgment that Defendants Musa Holdings, Inc., d/b/a Eyeglass World ("Musa Holdings"), which owned Defendant Laser Vision Institute, LLC ("LVI"), and Defendant Marco Musa individually, had violated both the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. §§1114, 1117, 1125, and §540.08, Fla. Stat. (proscribing unauthorized publication of a name or likeness).¹ They did so by utilizing Dr. Bosem's name, photograph and credentials in LVI's advertising without authorization, while competing with Dr. Bosem in the same market. The case was tried on the issue of damages by the Circuit Court, sitting as factfinder. The Defendants did not cross-appeal the Order of Summary Judgment.

As the Defendants said in one of their unauthorized advertisements, Dr.

¹The Order of Summary Judgment is not listed in the Index to the Record. The Plaintiffs attached a copy at the end of their initial Brief in the District Court.

Bosem is "[o]ne of the LASIK [laser surgery] pioneers and among the first to perform LASIK vision correction in the United States"—"one of the nation's leading refractive surgeons," who had "lectured," "been published," and "performed thousands of vision correction procedures," and was certified by numerous organizations (P.X. 7). The trial court's Order of Summary Judgment found that the Defendants were competitors of Dr. Bosem in Broward County and throughout Florida; published without authorization several pamphlets and newspaper advertisements containing Dr. Bosem's name, likeness and biography; continued to do so even after Dr. Bosem had filed suit, and even after assuring the Circuit Court that they would cease doing so; and therefore violated both Florida and federal law.

Dr. Bosem's evidence in the damage trial, relevant to the issue of the Defendants' scienter, was that he was solicited by LVI to work there; was in negotiations with Marco Musa to work there one or two days a week; insisted that he would allow the use of his name and likeness only internally--that is, only in LVI's offices--and in all events that he would have prior approval of any use; that after LVI's first draft of the contract omitted these requirements, and Dr. Bosem made clear that they were non-negotiable, all subsequent drafts contained them; that such drafts, however, also contained some unrelated "deal-breaking"

requirements (Tr. 6 at 718); that these deal-breakers were never eliminated; that negotiations broke down and no contract was ever signed; that Marco Musa was the negotiator, and knew that there was no contract; that even if there had been a contract, the draft still required prior approval of any advertisement; but that after Dr. Bosem had left on a vacation, LVI, without prior approval, nevertheless widely advertised Dr. Bosem's name, resume and picture, misrepresenting that Dr. Bosem worked for LVI (*see* Tr. 2 at 3, 132-33, 135-39, 142-48, 158-65; Tr. 3 at 313, 320-21; Tr. 5 at 607-09, 612-14, 636-37, 645; Tr. 6 at 706-07, 709-13, 718; Tr. 12 at 1554; P.X. 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 7, 8, 21, 22, 24, 27, 28). Thus, there was no contract; the Defendants had no contractual authorization to do anything; and even if they had, they violated the most important provision of the (non-existent) contract, by advertising without permission.

The Defendants did not deny any of the above-stated facts, but instead contended that this was all a big mistake. They said that despite Marco Musa's intimate involvement in every detail of the negotiations, and despite the total breakdown of negotiations, his assistant had misinformed him that a deal had been made, and that the advertisements and brochures had been authorized, and that he had approved the advertisements and brochures only for that reason. And Musa's assistant, after acknowledging that there was no contract, then fell on her sword

and took the blame for telling her boss something that she admittedly knew was not true. *See* Tr. 5 at 618-20, 629, 638-40, 649-50, 697-99; Tr. 8 at 985-86, 992, 996-97. Mr. Musa and his assistant also testified that after learning of this error, they did everything possible to pull the advertisements. *See* Tr. 2 at 213, 215; Tr. 5 at 624-25, 652; Tr. 8 at 988, 991; Tr. 13 at 1612.

We will not summarize the Plaintiffs' rebuttal of this defense, because the trial court believed the Defendants' incredible story. In the damage trial, in determining the elements and scope (geographic and temporal) of the damages to be awarded, the trial court found that Mr. Musa had not negotiated with Dr. Bosem in bad faith, had published the ads and brochures mistakenly, and had exercised due diligence in attempting to pull the ads and retrieve the brochures Notwithstanding the numerous categories of damages (Tr. 12 at 1515-17). available under the federal and state statutes, the trial court denied Dr. Bosem royalties for the expropriation of his identity; disgorgement of LVI's profits; non-economic damages based on the uncontradicted evidence of the significant emotional toll, and the harm to reputation, caused by this invasion; pre-judgment interest on the federal claim; attorneys' fees; and punitive damages (Tr. 12 at 1517, 1522-25; Tr. 28 at 7-15). The court awarded Dr. Bosem \$93,306.00 in lost profits (of \$300,000 to \$400,000 sought), and \$35,000 in pre-judgment interest on the state-law claim (of \$135,000 sought), resulting in a Final Judgment for \$178,872.44 (R. 16 at 2946). The effect of this ruling was that Dr. Bosem was only partially compensated for his lost income, and awarded nothing for the Defendants' unlawful expropriation and use of his name and reputation, or the profits they made as a result. He was not even awarded a royalty for the unlawful use of his name and reputation.

In addition to defending the pre-judgment interest awarded by the trial court on the state-law claim--the issue presented in the Petition for Discretionary Review--we will also address two other elements of damages.²

B. Florida Statutory Damages. First, the trial court held that notwithstanding the Summary Judgment finding that the Defendants had violated §540.08, Fla. Stat., proscribing unauthorized publication of a name or likeness, it had discretion to deny Dr. Bosem all damages under that Statute, including a royalty, for the expropriation of his name, likeness and reputation. Dr. Bosem will argue, as he did in the District Court, that a violation of §540.08 requires an award of damages.

C. Lost Profits. Second, even the minimal damages awarded by the trial

²When the Court accepts jurisdiction on one issue, it has discretion to consider any other issues raised by the Petitioner. *See Jenkins v. State*, 978 So. 2d. 116 (Fla. 2008); *Allstate Ins. Co. v. Rudnick*, 761 So. 2d 289, 291 (Fla. 2000).

court for lost profits were erroneously calculated. Dr. Bosem's theory of lost income, accepted by the trial court, was that LVI's entrance into the market as a bargain operation was legitimized and significantly enhanced by its unlawful association of Dr. Bosem's high-end prestigious practice, which ironically required Dr. Bosem to compete against himself (*see* Tr. 12 at 1567). He testified without contradiction that he had to reduce his own prices solely because of the false association with LVI's lower prices (*id.* at 1558; *see* Tr. 6 at 745-48, 787-88; Tr. 10 at 1331). He had to change his practice to a tiered pricing system in order to compete with the lower numbers advertised by LVI. He also was forced to attempt to increase his volume as a result, but doing so did not make up for the differences in price (*see* Tr. 2 at 184-88, 211; Tr. 12 at 1540-46, 1560-82; P.X. 10, 11).

The trial court "accept[ed] the price erosion theory of recovery espoused by the Plaintiff," and agreed that although Dr. Bosem's "gross revenue" had "increased over the period at issue," "the revenues that he did earn would have increased had he charged the original rates, not modifying his rates to the tiered rate system" (R. 16 at 2935-36). The trial court therefore applied Dr. Bosem's price-erosion measure of lost income per eye, based upon his price reductions between July 1, 2000 and December 1, 2001--the period of infringement (R.

16-2936, ¶16). In doing so, the court attached to its Order the uncontradicted damage calculations offered by Dr. Bosem (P.X. 10, 11), showing the difference in the prices that Dr. Bosem had charged per eye before the infringement, and the price reductions he was forced to make after the infringement. However, the court limited the damages to the period of infringement--July of 2000 to December of 2001--excluding the following year, during which the court itself had found that Dr. Bosem's prices remained deflated. *See* R. 16 at 2935, ¶¶ 13, 16. Moreover, it unilaterally altered the baseline pre-infringement prices shown by Dr. Bosem in the uncontradicted damage Exhibits the court had purported to adopt.

Exhibits 10 and 11 show, without contradiction, that Dr. Bosem's average price per eye between January and June of 2000 was \$1,643. Comparing that to the post-infringement price reductions accepted by the trial court, the lost income was \$161,946. Nevertheless, for unexplained reasons, the trial court altered Dr. Bosem's uncontradicted average "per-eye price before the illicit advertising [to] \$1,500 per eye"; then chose "July 2000 through November 2001 as the operative period" of the infringement; "accepted the raw data in Plaintiffs' Trial Exhibits 10 and 11 as to the number of eyes treated in the operative period"; "calculated the loss as the difference between \$1,500 baseline price and the prices actually charged"; and "arrived at the total of \$93,305 as the damages by multiplying the

price differences by the number of eyes operated on" (R. 2936). The court actually attached Plaintiff's Exhibit 11 as Exhibit B of its Order, showing its handwritten additions of the monthly numbers (for the restricted time period allowed), using the court's unilaterally-altered \$1,500 base number.

There were two problems with this calculation. First, the baseline pre-infringement price of \$1,500 per eye is not supported by any evidence of Record. The uncontradicted evidence--evidence the court said it was accepting--was that the baseline pre-infringement price was \$1,643. The total should have been \$161,946, or \$68,640 more than was awarded.

Second, the trial court's limitation of post-infringement damages to the period between July of 2000 and December of 2001 contradicted its own acceptance of Dr. Bosem's proof that the period of infringement lasted for a year beyond the cessation of publication (*see* R. 16 at 2935, ¶¶13, 16). Therefore the lost profits should have been awarded through the end of 2003. There was no evidence to the contrary.

In their Answer Brief in the District Court, the Defendants did not address these two specific points. Their only argument on the issue of lost profits was advanced on cross-appeal, contending that Dr. Bosem was not entitled to any award of lost profits (*see* Answer Brief/Brief on Cross-Appeal at 14-17, 60-72).

The Defendants did not attempt to defend the trial court's two errors in calculating lost profits. Thus, this argument was uncontradicted.

D. The District Court's Decision. On Appeal, the District Court rejected without discussion all of the arguments for reversal raised by Dr. Bosem, including the two discussed above. It chose to address only the Defendants' cross-appeal, contending that the trial court had erred in awarding pre-judgment interest on the economic damages allowed. See Bosem v. Musa Holdings, Inc., 8 So. 3d 1185 (Fla. 4th DCA 2009). The District Court described the trial court's finding that "Musa's unauthorized use of his image resulted in lost profits because he was forced to reduce the price of his LASIK eye surgery procedure in order to retain patients who had seen Musa's advertisements in which Musa claimed Bosem would perform the same surgery for less at its centers." *Id.* at 1186. The District Court noted that the trial court, as factfinder, had liquidated the damages lost during the period specified at \$93,306, awarding pre-judgment interest on that amount (id.). However, the District Court then noted that Dr. Bosem had claimed lost profits of between \$300,000 and \$400,000, while the trial court had awarded only \$93,306 during the specified period, and thus that "the amount of damages was never certain until the trial court calculated Bosem's lost profits" (id.). The District Court held (id.): "Florida case law suggests that on a claim for lost profits

or pre-erosion damages, pre-judgment interest is not warranted because the amount of damages is generally unknown." Therefore, notwithstanding that the trial court had liquidated the amount of lost profits over a specific period of time, the District Court reversed the award of pre-judgment interest.

II. ISSUES ON REVIEW

- A. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN ITS HOLDING THAT PRE-JUDGMENT INTEREST WAS NOT AVAILABLE TO DR. BOSEM.
- B. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF ROYALTIES UNDER STATE LAW.
- C. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE TRIAL COURT'S CALCULATION OF LOST PROFITS.

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The District Court's legal ruling that pre-judgment interest was impermissible under Florida law, because the amount of lost profits was uncertain until liquidated by the trial court, is reviewable *de novo*. *See Holland v. Gross*, 89 So. 2d 255, 258 (Fla. 1956) ("A finding of fact by the trial court in a non-jury case will not be set aside on review unless there is no substantial evidence to

sustain it, unless it is clearly against the weight of the evidence, or unless it was induced by an erroneous view of the law"). *Accord, Hilton v. State*, 961 So. 2d 284, 299 (Fla. 2007). The trial court's interpretation of the Florida Statute is reviewable *de novo See Bell South Communications, Inc. v. Meeks*, 863 So. 2d 287, 289 (Fla. 2003); *State v. Glatzmayer*, 789 So. 2d 297, 301 n.7 (Fla. 2001). The trial court's calculation of the lost profits is reviewable for substantial competent evidence. *Holland v. Gross*.

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court erred as a matter of law in holding that pre-judgment interest is unavailable on past economic damages over a specified time period if they were in dispute until the factfinder's verdict. So long as the damages represent out-of-pocket losses, including lost profits, during a specified period, pre-judgment interest is appropriate.

The District Court also erred in affirming the trial court's ruling, after finding an unauthorized usage of Dr. Bosem's name and likeness in violation of §540.08, Fla. Stat., that it had discretion to award no damages under the Statute. A violation of the Statute is inherently harmful, and at least a royalty for the value of the name and likeness expropriated is required, although the court can

determine the amount.

The District Court also erred in affirming the amount of lost profits calculated by the trial court, which ignored uncontradicted evidence of Dr. Bosem's baseline pre-infringement price structure, and its own finding of the period during which the Defendants' wrongdoing deflated his profits.

V. ARGUMENT

A. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT PRE-JUDGMENT INTEREST WAS UNAVAILABLE BECAUSE DR. BOSEM'S ECONOMIC DAMAGES WERE UNCERTAIN UNTIL LIQUIDATED BY THE FINDER OF FACT.

In Argonaut Ins. Co. v. May Plumbing Co., 474 So. 2d 212, 215 (Fla. 1985), this Court adopted the "loss theory" of pre-judgment interest, under which "neither the merit of the defense nor the certainty of the amount of loss affects the amount of pre-judgment interest. Rather, the loss itself is a wrongful deprivation by the defendant of the plaintiff's property. Plaintiff is to be made whole from the date of the loss once a finder of fact has determined the amount of damages and the defendant's liability therefor" (emphasis added). Thus, the Court held: "Once a verdict has liquidated the damages as of a date certain, computation of pre-judgment interest is merely a mathematical computation." Id. at 215. It held: "When a verdict liquidates damages on a plaintiff's out-of-pocket, pecuniary losses, plaintiff is entitled, as a matter of law, to pre-judgment interest at the

statutory rate from the date of that loss." *Id.* These statements alone demonstrate the error of the District Court's ruling--that liquidation of damages by the factfinder comes too late. Moreover, numerous other decisions underscore that error.

This Court said in *Alvarado v. Rice*, 614 So. 2d 498, 499 (Fla. 1993): "It is well settled that a plaintiff is entitled to pre-judgment interest when it is determined that the plaintiff has suffered an actual, out-of-pocket loss at some date prior to the entry of judgment." For example, pre-judgment interest on attorneys' fees accrues "the date the entitlement to attorney fees is fixed through agreement, arbitration award, or court determination." Quality Engineered Installation, Inc. v. Higley South Inc., 670 So. 2d 929, 930-31 (Fla. 1996), quoted in Butler v. Yusem, 3 So. 3d 1185 (Fla. 2009). As the court put it in Celotex Corp. v. Buildex, Inc., 476 So. 2d 294, 295 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985), review denied, 486 So. 2d 595 (Fla. 1986): "[W]here a disputed contractual claim becomes liquidated by a jury verdict as to the amounts recoverable, interest should be awarded from the date the payment was due." The same rule applies in tort actions. See Sostchin v. Doll Enterprises, Inc., 847 So. 2d 1123, 1229 n.7 (Fla. 3d DCA), review denied, 860 So. 2d 977 (Fla. 2003).³

³Accord, Kissimmee Utility Authority v. Better Plastics, Inc., 526 So. 2d 46, 47

All of these decisions demonstrate the error of the District Court's holding that pre-judgment interest is available only if the amount of the plaintiff's loss is uncontested. And this rule is no different when the economic damages are lost profits. As the court put it in the *Sostchin* case cited above: "[I]f lost profits prior to the date of the judgment are appropriately proven, pre-judgment interest on such amounts is recoverable." *Sotchin* was a tort case, but whether decided in contract or tort cases, all of these decisions apply to lost profits, which are proved

(Fla. 1988) ("[O]nce damages are liquidated, pre-judgment interest is considered an element of those damages as a matter of law, and the plaintiff is to be made whole from the date of the loss"); RDR Computer Consulting Corp. v. Eurodirect, Inc., 884 So. 2d 1053, 1505 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004); Fidelity and Guaranty Ins. Underwriters, Inc. v. Federated Department Stores, Inc., 845 So. 2d 896, 902-03 (Fla. 3d DCA), review denied, 859 So. 2d 514 (Fla. 2003); Glover Distributing Co., Inc. v. F.T.D.K., Inc., 816 So. 2d 1207, 1213 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002) (even if specific date of loss was not calculable, interest was awardable from the latest possible date the damage could have been suffered); Perdue Farms, Inc. v. Hook, 777 So. 2d 1047, 1053-54 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001); Underhill Fancy Veal, Inc. v. Padot, 677 So. 2d 1378, 1380 (Fla. 1st DCA), review denied, 686 So. 2d 583 (Fla. 1996); H & S Corp. v. U.S. Fidelity Guaranty Co., 667 So. 2d 393, 399-400 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995) (interest awarded from the dates that various out-of-pocket expenses were necessitated by the defendant's default).

⁴Accord, Montage Group, Ltd. v. Athle-Tech Computer Systems, Inc., 889 So. 2d 180, 199 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004); Glover Distributing Co., Inc. v. F.T.D.K., Inc., 816 So. 2d 1207, 1213 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002); Indian River Colony Club, Inc. v. Schopke Construction & Engineering, Inc., 619 So. 2d 6, 8 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993); Pilkington PLC v. Metro Corp., 562 So. 2d 709, 710 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990), review denied, 576 So. 2d 289, 290 (Fla. 1991); Developers of America, Corp. v. ABC Promotions Unlimited, Inc., 549 So. 2d 1042, 1043 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989); Bergen Brunswig Corp. v. Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 415 So. 2d 765, 767 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), review denied, 426 So. 2d 25 (Fla. 1983).

the same way in either type of case.

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