### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC09-1277 L.T. No.: 4D-07-3383

MARC E. BOSEM, M.D., MARC E. BOSEM, M.D., P.A. d/b/a CORRECT VISION LASER INSTITUTE, a Florida corporation,

Petitioners,

v.

MUSA HOLDINGS, INC. d/b/a EYEGLASS WORLD, a Florida corporation, THE LASER VISION INSTITUTE, L.L.C., and MARCO MUSA, individually,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF ON MERITS

TRIPP SCOTT, P.A. Counsel for Respondents 110 Southeast Sixth Street Fifteenth Floor Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 Telephone: 954.525.7500 Facsimile: 954.761.8475

ALEXANDER D. BROWN, ESQ. Florida Bar No.: 752665 adb@trippscott.com PAUL O. LOPEZ, ESQ. Florida Bar No.: 0983314 pol@trippscott.com

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

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

<u>Issue I</u>. Petitioners argue that prejudgment interest should be available in **every case** where damages are awarded. Such a sweeping proposition, however, ignores nearly three decades of established Florida jurisprudence requiring that, in order to trigger prejudgment interest, it must be determined that a specific out-of-pocket pecuniary loss was suffered on a date certain. Where, as here, a specific loss is not calculable until the verdict is reached, and the date of loss is similarly unascertainable until such time, prejudgment interest cannot be awarded. The district court's decision is consistent with this proposition, and does not present a conflict.

Issue II. Petitioners also argue (albeit improperly) that the district court erred in affirming the trial court's denial of royalty damages under Section 540.08, Florida Statute. First, this issue should not be considered as it was not included in Petitioners' request for review, and this Court granted review only on the narrow issue of prejudgment interest. Nevertheless, should this issue be reviewed at this juncture, Petitioners' argument fails as it is premised on the fatal assumption that Section 540.08 royalty awards are *automatically due* upon a finding of liability. Such a position is contrary to the law governing this category of relief, and the district court properly rejected this argument when raised on appeal.

Issue III. Petitioners next posit that the district court reversibly erred in affirming the trial court's calculation of lost profit damages. Petitioners also improperly raise this argument on appeal, as it was not included as a basis in the petition seeking review. Nevertheless, for the reasons set forth herein, Respondents suggest that the district court acted well within its authority in affirming the trial court's ruling. Here, just as with their argument on royalty damages, Petitioners appear to erroneously suggest that they were entitled to lost profits, irrespective of the mitigating factors that case law requires a trial court to consider in assessing such damages. Such a theory is devoid of merit, and must be rejected, again.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY REVERSED THE TRIAL COURT'S AWARD OF PREJUDGMENT INTEREST? Yes.

Petitioners' first issue, and the only one presented to this Court in the petition seeking conflict review, focuses on whether the district court erred in reversing that portion of the Final Judgment granting BOSEM's post-trial motion seeking prejudgment interest. To this end, a district court properly reverses a prejudgment interest award when such an award is made contrary to the legal precedent of this state. See Air Ambulance Prof'l, Inc. v. Thin Air, 809 So.2d 28 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002) (prejudgment interest award reversed where there was no basis for the same). That is precisely what occurred in this instance, and the cases cited by BOSEM alleging the existence of a conflict support the district court's decision.

At bar, BOSEM filed a post-trial motion seeking the imposition of prejudgment interest on the damages awarded by the trial court. BOSEM argued that the damages were liquidated and, consequently, prejudgment interest should be awarded on that amount starting with the 2001 calendar year, the date of the alleged injury. Respondents defended the motion on the premise that the damages awarded were **unliquidated**; Respondents posited that the damages were not susceptible to the imposition of prejudgment interest. Ultimately, although concurring that the

damages were not liquidated, the trial court granted BOSEM's motion and awarded prejudgment interest. See (R. at vol. 16, pp. 2942-43). Upon a cross-appeal, however, the district court disagreed with the trial court, and properly reversed the award of prejudgment interest. BOSEM now suggests that such a result creates a conflict in Florida law with regard to a litigant's entitlement to prejudgment interest. Respondents disagree.

Florida law is well settled that the availability of prejudgment interest on a damage award depends on the nature of the damages awarded. The damages must be liquidated. Otherwise, as Petitioners would have this Court conclude, prejudgment interest would be awarded *in every instance, in every case;* Petitioners' theory would effectively turn nearly three decades of established Florida law on its head, a result that must be avoided in this instance. A review of the pertinent case law on this issue will unequivocally demonstrate that the district court's decision in this case is in lockstep with established Florida law.

In Argonaut Insurance Co. v. May Plumbing Co., 474 So.2d 212 (Fla.1985), this Court adopted what has been termed the "loss theory" approach to prejudgment interest, declaring that an award of prejudgment interest is to be considered another element of "pecuniary damages", and shall not serve as a "penalty" for a defendant's act in disputing an amount due. Id.

at 214-15. This Court further delineated that prejudgment interest is **only available** in those cases where the judgment has the effect of **liquidating damages** as of a date certain. *Id*. This legal tenet has been applied in nearly every cited case addressing the issue of prejudgment interest.

For example, accepting this principle, the Fourth District in Air Ambulance, supra, explained,

In Argonaut Insurance Co. v. May Plumbing Co., 474 So. 2d 212 (Fla.1985), the supreme court reiterated that in Florida, prejudgment interest is considered to be another element of pecuniary damages, and not a "penalty for the defendant's 'wrongful' act of disputing a claim found to be just and owing." Id. at 214-15. Prejudgment interest is allowed on only liquidated claims, that is, sums which are certain, but which the defendant refuses to surrender. Id. Thus, Florida espouses the "loss theory" instead of the "penalty theory."

Air Ambulance, 809 So. 2d at 31 (emphasis added). Further review of the factual and legal analysis in Air Ambulance, which <u>applies the "loss theory"</u>, as well as other legal precedent from Argonaut's progeny, solidifies the point that prejudgment interest is **not** permitted in cases where, as here, the damages awarded were not certain until a verdict was rendered.

Similar to the facts at bar, the plaintiff in Air Ambulance filed a multi-count lawsuit which sought various levels of compensatory and punitive relief. *Id.* There, the trier of fact found in favor of the plaintiff on all claims, and the trial court awarded prejudgment interest on **all** compensatory damages.

On appeal, however, the district court reversed the award

of prejudgment interest, noting that prejudgment interest was only available on the claim for "open account" -- the only "liquidated" claim. The district court held,

the only claim which was liquidated was [the plaintiff's] claim for open account. The amount of money that [the defendant] was withholding due to his dispute over excess charges was the only amount certain.

Air Ambulance, 809 So. 2d at 32 (emphasis added). The court further explained that any additional loss incurred by the defendant's actions, whether characterized as past or future losses, "were not fixed" and, as such, not liquidated. Accordingly, such amounts were not subject to prejudgment interest. Id. at 32 (emphasis added).

Similar to the decision in Air Ambulance, the cases cited by Petitioners in their initial brief actually support the proposition that entitlement to prejudgment interest is present only where the damages are "certain, but which the defendant refuses to surrender." Due to the number of cases cited, the following string citation of Petitioners' cases illustrates the consistent nature of the district court's ruling with <u>each case</u> cited by Petitioners:

Alvarado v. Rice, 614 So.2d 498 (Fla. 1993) (prejudgment interest available in personal injury action only on portion of damages attributable to "past medical expenses" that "have an amount certain and were incurred at a specific date" prior to judgment); see also, e.g., Celotex Corp. v. Buildex, Inc., 476 So.2d 294 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985) (prejudgment interest available in contractual relationship from date payment is due under contract); Kissimmee Util. Auth. v. Better Plastics, Inc., 526 So.2d

46 (Fla. 1988) (prejudgment interest available against company for specific overcharge amounts); RDR Computer Consulting Corp. v. Eurodirect, Inc., 884 So.2d 1053 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004) (prejudgment interest is available on a contractual debt due in a case alleging breach of contract and open account); Fidelity & Guar. Ins. Underwriters, Inc. v. Federated Dept. Stores, Inc., 845 So.2d 896 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003) (prejudgment interest available in coverage dispute upon determination that coverage existed); Glover Distrib. Co., Inc. v. F.T.D.K., 816 So.2d 1207 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002) (prejudgment interest available when based on debt due under contractual relationship); Underhill Fancy Veal, Inc. v. Padot, 677 So2d 1378 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) (prejudgment interest proper where loss was ascertainable on a date certain prior to judgment); Scheible v. Joseph L. Morse Geriatric Ctr., Inc., 988 So.2d 1130, 1134 (Fla. 4th DCA 2008) (the determination of "whether prejudgment interest is allowed depends on the nature of the damages claimed"); Quality Engineered Installation, Inc. v. Higley South, Inc., 670 So.2d 929 (Fla. 1996) (holding that prejudgment interest is available on an attorneys' fee award from the date an entitlement to fees is determined); Sostchin v. Doll Enter., Inc., 847 So.2d 1123 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003) (prejudgment interest not addressed substantive in decision); H&S Corp. v. U.S. Fidelity & Guar. Co., 667 So.2d 393 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995) (prejudgment interest not available where neither the exact amount of damages, nor the exact date of loss were certain, and the date of loss was not fixed by the trial court).

See (Pet. Br. at 11-15, n. 3). Notably, the only other case cited by Petitioners, *Perdue Farms, Inc. v. Hook*, 777 So.2d 1047 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001), actually reversed an award of prejudgment interest on grounds relevant to the issue present here.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Indeed, all of the other cases cited by Petitioners in their jurisdictional brief to this Court, but omitted from the initial brief on the merits, are similarly consistent with the district court's ruling in this case. See, e.g., Bergen Brunswig Corp. v. Dep't of Health & Rehab. Serv., 415 So.2d 765 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982) (prejudgment interest available from date of termination of contractual relationship for misappropriate of particular funds); Indian River Colony Club, Inc. v. Schopke Constr. & Eng'g, 619

Specifically, the *Hook* Court provided the following pointed analysis in reversing the prejudgment interest award:

[i]n regard to the award of [prejudgment interest], we reverse on the additional ground that the underlying damage award...is not one which can be liquidated to a date certain. [The plaintiff's] damages were not liquidated because the ascertainment of their exact sum required the taking of testimony to ascertain facts upon which to base a value judgment.

Id. at 1054 (emphasis added) (internal citations omitted). As the district court noted in the case *sub judicie*, Petitioners originally sought damages "between \$300,000 and \$400,000"; but, after the taking of testimony and other evidence, the ultimate sum was only determined to be \$93,306. Clearly, just as in *Hook*, Petitioners' alleged damages here "were not liquidated [and subject to prejudgment interest] because the ascertainment of their exact sum required the taking of testimony to ascertain facts upon which to base a value judgment." *Id.* (emphasis added). The decision of the district court in this case is absolutely consistent with *Hook* and all of the other cases cited herein. Accordingly, conflict is not present, and, as such,

So.2d 6 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993) ("breach of contract damages for lost profits constitute liquidated damages if such damages are due as of a certain date"); Developers of Am. Corp. v. ABC Promotions Unlimited, Inc., 549 So.2d 1042 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989) (accord); Montage Group, LTD v. Athle-Tech Comp. Sys., Inc., 889 So.2d 180 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004) (prejudgment interest available on damages incurred on a date certain, even where liability challenged); Pilkington PLC v. Metro Corp., 562 So.2d 709 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990) (one paragraph opinion with no real discussion on case facts).

this Court should affirm the district court's decision.

As an important aside, Respondents have consistently agreed that prejudgment interest <u>may</u> be awarded in cases involving unliquidated damages where a final judgment is not entered immediately upon rendition of a verdict. In such a scenario, prejudgment interest would be appropriate between the date of the verdict (*i.e.*, the date the damages become "liquidated") and the date of the final judgment. Although Petitioner has never sought such relief in this case, the decision in *Palm Beach County School Board v. Montgomery*, 641 So.2d 183 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994) is instructive on this issue, and adds further clarity on the application of the "loss theory."

Similar to the facts at bar, the damages in *Montgomery* were unliquidated and not certain until a verdict was rendered. *Id*. There, the district court addressed the issue of whether a claimant in a case involving unliquidated damages is entitled to prejudgment interest between the time a verdict is rendered and the entry of a final judgment. Just as in *Air Ambulance*, the court started its analysis with recognition of the principles of the "loss theory" of prejudgment interest as established by this Court in *Argonaut*. *Id*. (citing *Argonaut*, 474 So.2d 212).

Applying the principles of the "loss theory", the Montgomery Court determined that prejudgment interest was available on an unliquidated claim only **after** a verdict is

rendered fixing the amount of damages. Even at that point, however, prejudgment interest is **not** available from the time the cause of action accrued and, instead, only becomes available from the time the verdict fixes the amount of damages. *See id; see also Tolin v. Doudov*, 626 So.2d 1054, 1056 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993) (prejudgment interest "must be calculated from the fixed date; <u>not</u> amortized over the prior years"). Simply put, therefore, prejudgment interest is only allowed where the damages are "**certain**, **but which the defendant refuses to surrender**". *Air Ambulance*, 809 So. 2d at 32 (emphasis added).

incorrect Furthermore, although dismissed as by Petitioners, the district court properly recognized the legal precedent making clear that prejudgment interest is not available on damages awarded in the form of lost profits or price erosion where said amount is not certain until the rendering of a final judgment. See, e.g., Jones v. Sterile Products Corp., 572 So. 2d 519 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) (held that prejudgment interest was inappropriate as the damages were based on an un-liquidated amount of "lost profits and price erosion"); see also Miami-Dade County School Bd. v. Ruiz School Bus Svc., Inc., 874 So. 2d 59 (Fla. 3d DCA 2004) (prejudgment interest on an un-liquidated damage award such as "lost profits" is inappropriate); Checkers Drive-In Restaurants, Inc. v. Tampa Checkmate Food Svc., Inc., 805 So. 2d 941 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001).

Accordingly, based on the foregoing analysis, the district court was absolutely correct to reverse the trial court's improper award of prejudgment interest in this case. Indeed, it would have been error for the district court to allow the award to withstand Respondents' cross-appeal. At most, prejudgment interest in this case may only have been available for the period of December 8, 2006 (the date damages became *fixed*) through June 7, 2007 (the date judgment was rendered). Importantly, however, BOSEM has never sought this relief and, as such, the same cannot be awarded at this juncture.

For all of the foregoing reasons, Respondents respectfully request that this Court affirm the decision of the district court reversing the trial court's award of prejudgment interest in this case. Anything short of such an affirmance would run afoul to the settled principles of *Argonaut* and its progeny.

# II. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF ROYALTIES UNDER SECTION 540.08? No.

<u>Introduction</u>. As alluded to in the introduction section of this brief, Respondents believe this issue has been improperly brought before the Court in this appeal. Petitioners sought limited review based on an alleged conflict in the district court's decision as it related to prejudgment interest, but *never* sought review of the decision as it related to any other aspect of the district court's decision. As such, Respondents

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